
Historical Perspective

Until the middle of the 19th century, custody laws were perfectly

clear: Fathers were automatically granted custody of their

children, who were viewed, like a wife, as a man’s property

(Wyer, Gaylord, & Grove, 1987). Laws began to change in the

late 1800s with the emergence of the ‘‘tender years’’ doctrine,

which held that mothers are uniquely suited to rear children (Ex

Parte Devine, 1981; Lyman & Roberts, 1985; Mason, 1994;

Wyer et al., 1987). The tender-years doctrine came to control

custody decision making during much of the 20th century, but in

the 1970s the presumption was challenged as sexist (Hall,

Pulver, & Cooley, 1996; Mason, 1994). The subsequent decline

of the tender-years presumption left courts without clear guidance

in following the best-interests standard, a principle that

had been place since the beginning of the 20th century

(Mnookin, 1975). For decades, children were automatically

placed with their mothers in their best interests (unless the

mother was ‘‘unfit’’), but the desire to avoid sexism left courts

without a dominant guiding principle.

As we noted earlier, some states today list factors that they deem

relevant to children’s best interests, at least in general terms, but

the ultimate goal is never defined (Mnookin, 1975). This presents

judges with an impossible practical, legal, and ethical dilemma.

As noted family law professor Robert Mnookin (1975) put it:
Deciding what is best for a child poses a question no less ultimate

than the purposes and values of life itself. Should the judge be

primarily concerned with the child’s happiness? Or with the

child’s spiritual and religious training? Should the judge be concerned

with the economic ‘‘productivity’’ of the child when he

grows up? Are the primary values of life in warm interpersonal

relationships, or in discipline and self-sacrifice? Is stability and

security for a child more desirable than intellectual stimulation?

These questions could be elaborated endlessly. And yet, where is

the judge to look for the set of values that should inform the choice

of what is best for the child? (pp. 260–261)

Custody Evaluations: A Solution to Judges’ Dilemma?

Without clear guidance from the law, judges have turned to



mental health professionals and custody evaluations for help in


